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For Anna Kate Hindman,
I hope that you’re able to make your home in the stars.
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AUTHOR’S NOTE

This is a work of fiction. Although many aspects of this story are true, the vast majority of this story is purely the result of the author’s imagination. Only open source unclassified materials—readily accessible to the public at large—were used as reference sources. Absolutely no classified materials—in any way, shape, or form—were used in the preparation of this story.

Readers should be aware that while this appears to be a tale about a military program that did not actually exist, it’s really a story about how lives intertwine and intersect over space, time, and generations. It’s about duty, honor, courage, commitment, life, death, and love. And most importantly, it’s about the necessity and difficulties of keeping secrets that are larger than ourselves.

Readers should be aware that Blue Gemini is the first installment of a trilogy. A website for the book series is located at www.mikejennebooks.com. It contains an extensive compendium of references for pertinent space/aerospace technology of the Cold War era, to include an illustrated glossary and a set of detailed illustrations (like the samples at the end of this edition) of technology unique to the fictional Aerospace Support Project described in the story.
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PROLOGUE ONE: THE MAN WHO WOULD BE BUZZ ALDRIN

Sixteen miles southwest of Lincoln, Nebraska

8:32 a.m., Monday, April 25, 1966

As ordered, Scott Ourecky planted his hands in his lap, away from the aircraft’s controls, and clamped his eyes tightly closed. He felt perspiration beading on his forehead. Through his earphones, he heard the muted drone of the Cessna 150’s Continental engine. Wary of what was to come, he recited emergency procedures in his mind.

Ourecky was an Air Force ROTC cadet at the University of Nebraska at Lincoln. Just a month away from graduation, he was undergoing the compulsory “pressure hop”—the flight training aptitude exam—to assess how effectively he might handle the stresses of pilot training. Assuming that he passed his pressure hop, and certainly he would, he would soon matriculate to primary flight training at Randolph Air Force Base in Texas, shortly after he received his Air Force commission and pinned on his gold bars.

Administered by one of the ROTC instructors, a former fighter pilot named Major Dan Bell, the pressure hop was a subjective evaluation. Although it was certainly beneficial, previous flight training was not required; a few days prior to his hop, a prospective pilot was issued a study sheet with several emergency procedures to memorize. On the day of a student’s hop, Bell would take him up, familiarize him with controlling the aircraft, and then run him through a few emergency drills. Bell apparently was far less concerned whether a would-be pilot might flub the details of an unfamiliar procedure, but much more focused on determining whether he might choke under pressure.

But the hop was still highly subjective. In his capacity as the de facto gatekeeper to the brotherhood of aviators, Major Bell was granted considerable discretion. As rumors had it, Bell was just as likely to grant an “up” ticket to a back-slapping, boisterous frat boy—particularly if the cadet was a member of Alpha Tau Omega, his own fraternity—as he was to pass a serious and studious cadet like Ourecky. So, as in all of his academic pursuits, Ourecky had intently studied his advance sheet and everything else that he could glean concerning the Cessna 150 and piloting procedures in general, until he had the information absolutely down pat. Moreover, over the course of the past two years, he had quizzed other cadets concerning the details of their pressure hops. Although he had only flown three times in his life, he was theoretically as prepared to fly the Cessna as any man could possibly be.

From what other cadets had related, Bell typically took them through no more than two emergency drills before returning to land at Lincoln. After all, everyone was aware that the pressure hop was a cursory check intended to identify the panic-prone before the Air Force expended a lot of money training them to be pilots. But if the other cadets had only been subjected to two emergency drills—three at most—Ourecky was on the verge of executing his fourth drill of the morning. What gives here?

Ourecky sensed the little aircraft climbing sharply, and then heard the kazoo-like buzzing sound of the stall warning as the plane abruptly lost lift and started to backslide out of the sky. He almost succumbed to an urge to laugh out loud; Bell was obviously setting him up for a simple drill, a recovery from a power-on stall, a common malady of inexperienced pilots who tried to climb too quickly after takeoff.

“Open your eyes, cadet,” said Bell curtly. “You have the controls.”

“I have the controls,” replied Ourecky, quickly grasping the control yoke. “Executing power-on stall recovery.“ He swiftly executed the drill and recovered from the stall. Tugging back gently on the yoke, he resumed the designated altitude and steered back onto the assigned heading. “Two-Seven-Zero degrees, five thousand feet altitude,” he announced.

“Good recovery. Maintain heading.”

Grinning, confident that he would ace the hop, Ourecky glanced at Bell. Briskly chewing a wad of gum, with his bloodshot eyes concealed behind the teardrop-shaped lenses of aviator sunglasses, the instructor wore a faded brown leather flight jacket festooned with colorful embroidered patches of fighter squadrons he had flown with. From all accounts, he was a very competent pilot, but had effectively destroyed his military career with excessive drinking, wanton behavior, and a corresponding string of disciplinary infractions. Although he had repeatedly applied for combat duty in Vietnam since arriving at Lincoln, he wasn’t going anywhere. Absent a miracle, Bell would remain at the ROTC department, enduring a monotonous routine of shepherding cadets, fated to retire in his current rank.

While it was tragic that Bell’s life had stalled, Ourecky was confident that he would ascend on a much longer and higher trajectory. He had grown up in the American heartland, less than a hundred miles from here, in the humble and tiny town of Wilber, Nebraska. Renowned as the “Czech Capital of the USA” because so many Czechs had settled there as a result of the Homestead Act of 1862, Wilber was home to just over a thousand souls.

Like so many others of his generation, Ourecky was infatuated with space exploration. As a teenager, he had haunted the small library at school, incessantly poring over Wernher von Braun’s visionary articles on space exploration in Collier’s magazine, along with books by Willy Ley, Fred Whipple, and other aerospace pioneers. He studied the details of paintings by Chesley Bonestell and Fred Freeman, picturing himself aboard their massive doughnut-shaped space stations and needle-prowed rockets.

He spent countless nights peering through a telescope at the moon, planets, and swirling galaxies. Startlingly brilliant in the Nebraska sky, the stars beckoned; his destiny was there in the heavens, piloting a rocket, not tending corn on the 160 acres of black earth that had once been his great-great-grandparents’ homestead. But unlike countless other would-be star voyagers, he had focused his eagerness to concoct a plan that would ultimately place him behind the controls of a vessel bound for space.

It was a scheme of two key interlocking parts. First, since he was convinced that test pilots would be standing at the front of the line to become astronauts, flying lessons were absolutely essential. Second, he vowed to diligently apply himself to his academic studies. It seemed logical to Ourecky that an engineering background would be required for long duration space missions, since engineering skills would be crucial for repairing systems and solving complex problems on the way to the moon or Mars.

As he trudged through high school, it was apparent that his aviation training would have to wait, since no airfields near Wilber offered flight lessons. In his senior year, in a class comprising just eight students, Ourecky won an Air Force ROTC scholarship to the University of Nebraska at Lincoln. He still wanted to fly, but his academic course load—a double major in electrical engineering and mathematics—left little time for extracurricular activities. He made time for elective courses in astronomy, and also gained a working knowledge of orbital mechanics through independent studies with a sympathetic professor. His social life was virtually non-existent; while his classmates urged him to join them in the indulgent joys of collegiate life—keg parties, outrageous pranks, chasing coeds and the like—he committed almost every waking hour to his studies.

And now he was merely a few weeks away from flight school. After earning his wings, as soon as he gained adequate flying experience, he would apply for test pilot school. Ideally, with any luck, he would acquire an advanced engineering degree in the process. But despite his carefully laid plans, there was always the possibility for outcomes that he could not influence. As the United States was becoming progressively more entangled in the war in Southeast Asia, Ourecky was abundantly conscious that his path might entail a detour to Vietnam. If that was the case, he would certainly do his duty but would assume no undue risks.

It would certainly be a long journey, but Ourecky was sure that he was on the right path towards his objective. He had closely followed the astronauts from the very outset of the space program, when the seven test pilots had been chosen for Project Mercury in 1959. He admired all of them, but his personal hero was Edwin “Buzz” Aldrin. Although he joined NASA’s astronaut corps relatively late—as a member of the third class of astronauts selected in 1963—and had yet to fly into space, Aldrin stood out sharply from the pack. A genuine American hero, he had shot down two MiGs and won the Distinguished Flying Cross in the course of flying sixty-six combat missions over Korea. If that wasn’t enough, Aldrin was also a brilliant theoretician who wrote a groundbreaking thesis on orbital rendezvous to earn his doctorate at the renowned Massachusetts Institute of Technology. From what Ourecky had read, Aldrin was endowed with an irrepressible work ethic, constantly striving to improve the efficiency of spaceflight procedures. While Ourecky had immense respect for great thinkers, he had even more respect for men of action like Aldrin, who would soon fly into space and literally insert himself into his theoretical equations on the biggest blackboard that ever was. Ourecky was absolutely certain that his hero would be the first man to walk on the Moon.

Through the intercom, Bell’s voice interrupted his thoughts: “I have the controls. Close your eyes.”

A fifth drill? Ourecky obediently closed his eyes and tucked his hands over his lap belt.

“Open your eyes,” said Bell curtly. “You have the controls. Your engine is on fire.”

“I have the controls,” replied Ourecky. He glanced sharply to his left and picked out a large wheat field. “Emergency descent. I’ve selected a landing site.”

“Good,” noted Bell. “Keep going.”

“Fuel selector off.” Ourecky reached down and switched off the control. “Primer in and locked. Throttle closed. Mixture to idle cut-off. Cabin heat off. Cabin air off. Overhead vents open.” The propeller stopped turning as the engine shut off.

“Good job so far,” observed Bell.

Gently pulling back the yoke to maintain as much altitude as he could, Ourecky aimed the plane at his selected landing site as he recited the procedures for an emergency landing. He concluded with: “We’re going in for an emergency landing. Make sure your seatbelt is snug. When I tell you, just before we land, unlatch and crack open your door so it doesn’t get jammed if we crash. In an actual emergency, I would come up on the radio and declare an emergency…”

“That’s good, cadet,” said Bell. “That will do. Reset and restart, and then let’s head for home.”

Ourecky breathed a sigh of relief; he had been genuinely concerned that Bell would have actually allowed him to fly the Cessna all the way down to make an unpowered landing in some farmer’s field. He smiled; it looked like he had nailed his pressure hop.

Ourecky switched the fuel selector lever from “Off” to “On” before resetting the other controls to their normal flight positions. He turned the ignition key to restart the engine, and it immediately came back to life. He brought the Cessna around and set a course for the airport at Lincoln.

Only a few minutes passed before Bell spoke: “One more thing. I have the controls. Close your eyes.”

Another drill? Certainly this had to be a record. Trying hard to hide his aggravation, Ourecky placed his hands in his lap and shut his eyes.

Almost immediately, Bell said “Open your eyes. You have the controls.”

As Ourecky opened his eyes and grasped the yoke, he watched Bell reach out to turn the ignition switch to “Off.” The engine quickly stopped.

“Engine on fire?” asked Ourecky.

“Nope,” answered Bell. “It just stopped.”

As he had before, Ourecky adjusted the controls to maintain as much altitude as he could, and then looked for a place to set down the Cessna if the engine failed to restart. “Engine restart,” he said. “Carb heat on. Mixture to full rich. Fuel selector to On. Master switch to On. Throttle set. Primer in and locked. Check magnetos. Ignition switch to Start.” Ourecky turned the key and the engine restarted. Checking to see how far he might have deviated off heading, he looked up at the compass. Suddenly, the engine inexplicably sputtered out. The plane gradually nosed over, silently gliding over endless acres of corn and wheat.

“What are you going to do now, cadet?” asked Bell.

“Uh, I guess we’re going in for an emergency landing,” replied Ourecky.

“Good answer, but the underlying problem is that you failed to check the fuel selection lever during your restart procedure,” observed Bell, using his pencil to gesture at the control. “You called it, which is admirable, but you didn’t look at it or put your hand on it.”

Ourecky looked at the fuel selection lever. Sure enough, it was set to “Off,” so the engine wasn’t drawing fuel from the tanks in the wings. Bell must have switched it off while his eyes were briefly closed. He swiveled it back to On, re-checked the other controls, and restarted the engine.

“But, sir, I just checked the fuel selection lever after I recovered from the engine fire,” argued Ourecky. “I reset it to On before I restarted the engine.” Even as the words left his lips, his stomach sank. Bell was right; if he followed the drill to the letter, he should have physically checked the control instead of assuming that it was On. But on the other hand, he had checked it, just mere moments before, so what was the likelihood that it could have suddenly slipped out of place? Could some nefarious gremlin have boarded the little plane to shut off the gas?

“Doesn’t matter,” replied Bell. “Procedures are procedures, Ourecky. We have them for a reason, and you’re obligated to follow them.”

Grimacing, Ourecky kept his tongue in check. He knew better than to debate with Bell. And besides, that was just one drill out of six. Bell had put him through the wringer and he had certainly aced the other five, so it still likely that he passed his hop. In any event, he wouldn’t know the verdict for at least another week, when Bell’s evaluation report was posted to his official records. He also knew that absolutely nothing could be gained by pestering Bell for his decision, or arguing about the last drill.

For the next several minutes, they flew on in silence. As they drew close to the airport at Lincoln, Bell assumed control of the Cessna and formed an approach for landing. Between radio calls, as he manipulated the controls, he asked: “So, cadet, Buzz Aldrin’s your hero, huh?”

“Yes, sir. Very much so, sir,” answered Ourecky, still hoping for a favorable outcome on the hop.

“And from what I hear from your fellow cadets, you have aspirations of going to test pilot school as soon as you possibly can, so you can go on to be an astronaut. Is that correct, Ourecky? You want to follow in Aldrin’s footprints?”

“Uh, very much so, sir.”

“Well, if you had done your homework, Ourecky, you would know that Buzz Aldrin had never been a test pilot. He might be an astronaut now, but Buzz was a fighter pilot, and a damned good one at that.”
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PROLOGUE TWO: THE EAVESDROPPERS

Karamürsel Air Station, Turkey

6:30 a.m., Sunday, November 20, 1966

Assigned to the elite United States Air Force Security Service, Technical Sergeant Vic Rybalka was a “Squirrel,” a skilled Russian linguist with extensive training in Soviet military technology and operations. Officially classified as “voice intercept operators,” he and his fellow Squirrels spent their working hours intently listening to military operations in the Soviet Union.

Although Karamürsel was somewhat isolated, he enjoyed the assignment. It was his second tour here. Like most of his fellow Squirrels, he considered Karamürsel as one of the pinnacle assignments for voice interceptors because the site was uniquely positioned to harvest intelligence from some of the most secretive Soviet activities.

While his work was certainly intriguing, it could also take its toll. It required intense concentration, much more than could be expected of the average man. It was rare that Rybalka left his shift without feeling entirely spent, but it was just as rare that he could lie down for a night’s sleep without his head still spinning from the day’s activities. He suffered from a chronic backache, a painful memento of sitting for hours in a stiff-backed chair, hunched over a bank of radio receivers. But the aspect that annoyed him most was that his labors were almost entirely passive. He sat, he listened, he made notes, and not much else. Like most men who volunteered for military service, Rybalka was drawn to action, but a Squirrel’s life was not an existence for the active. Their bosses praised the interceptors as electronic sleuths, snatching vital secrets from the ether, but most often he felt like an eavesdropper, perpetually leaning against a locked door, vicariously listening to the illicit activities of strangers.

There were some within their tight-knit community who claimed that the entire enterprise would eventually be the domain of machines, and even now, civilian technicians were busy installing massive banks of computers and other equipment at the Karamürsel site. The civilians avowed that that giant machines would systematically vacuum up the radio transmissions and that the time-consuming toils of sifting and sorting would be automated. But Rybalka was confident that his expertise could never be replicated by a computer or even a thousand computers working in unison, because there were some aspects of the job that were beyond the capacity of machines.

As he arrived for his tour of duty, he mused that Sundays were typically very quiet, even on the supposedly atheistic side of the Iron Curtain, with scarce traffic to monitor over the airwaves. He grimaced; a quiet day meant that his shift’s Squirrels would be tasked with his least favorite chore: the tedious task of transcribing hours and hours of backlogged tapes. While some genuine intelligence was often gleaned from the glut of recordings, he might also spend hours scribbling down inane drivel. Frowning, he remembered one painful session in which he transcribed an hour-long conversation between a Black Sea Fleet supply officer and his counterpart at a shore depot, in which the afloat officer bitterly complained that his ship’s entire stock of flour was infested with weevils.

Although the Squirrels’ work could often be monotonous, at least their job wasn’t as painful as the “Ditty Boppers” who intercepted Morse code transmissions for the duration of their shifts. Rybalka had known Ditty Boppers who had literally copied code for months on end but had not the slightest clue what any of it meant.

As was his pre-shift ritual, he went to his locker in the break area, stowed the box lunch prepared by the base chow hall, and retrieved his “lucky” coffee mug. He filled the mug with steaming coffee from a huge urn on the counter, stirred in two tablespoons of sugar, and then strolled into the work area. He was immediately taken aback. It was not the somber environment that he expected for a Sunday morning. Far from quiet, the room was abuzz with giddy chatter. It seemed almost festive, like Christmas was arriving a month early.

He walked to his workstation, which was occupied by his counterpart from the previous shift, Senior Airman Paul Smith, a lanky young Squirrel from Kansas. “What’s all the hubbub?” he asked.

Rybalka’s expectations of an uneventful shift were immediately altered by Smith’s one-word reply: “Bluto.”

“Bluto? No kidding?”

“Yeah,” replied Smith. He seemed sullen, as if he had missed the last bus to summer camp. “Bluto’s on the pad, ready to launch.”

“Hold the fort, pal,” said Rybalka. “I’ll be right back.” He returned to his locker in the break area, retrieved a large Thermos bottle, and filled it from the coffee urn. Carrying the Thermos and a quart-sized mason jar, he returned to the work area as he pondered how the day would proceed. “Bluto”—named for Popeye’s hulking nemesis—was the Squirrels’ internal nickname for a massive new booster rocket. The giant rocket was apparently still in its testing phases and very prone to failure.

Given the impending launch, all of Karamürsel’s considerable listening capabilities would be focused at the Soviet Tyuratam missile launch complex, located in the expansive grasslands of the Kazakh Republic. The Tyuratam facility—often incorrectly described as the “Baikonur Cosmodrome”—was the point of origin for virtually all Soviet flights into space.

As he collected his belongings to go off shift, Smith glanced at Rybalka’s Thermos and mason jar. “Ready for the long haul, huh?” he asked, stretching as he stifled a yawn.

“You got that right,” replied Rybalka. “I don’t want to miss anything.” He reached into the bottom drawer of the desk and extracted his personal “dope book.” Accumulated over months of monitoring the Soviets, the spiral-bound tablet contained his copious notes concerning frequencies, channel settings, atmospheric conditions, and personality quirks of various Soviet radio operators he listened to on a regular basis. Armed with the information, he could precisely fine-tune his equipment, dialing in minute adjustments to compensate as the Soviet transmitters gradually—but predictably—“wobbled” a few cycles over the course of the day.

“Hey, Vic,” muttered Smith. “Would you mind if I…”

“Hang out for a while?”

“Uh, yeah. I’ve never heard an actual launch.”

“Sure,” said Rybalka. “There’s an earphone jack splitter in my locker. You can stay at the desk with me and listen as long as you want, but just stay out of my way. And don’t—don’t—touch the knobs. They’re all mine.”

“Thanks, Vic. I really appreciate it.”

Rybalka smiled to himself. Smith, like most of the neophyte Squirrels, held him in awe; during his first stint at Karamürsel, five years ago, he had witnessed—over the airwaves—cosmonaut Yuri Gagarin’s historic flight into orbit. He had monitored more Soviet launches, by far, than any other voice interceptor assigned to the station. He particularly relished the drama that surrounded the manned flights, since there were obviously lives at stake, and although he was curious about the looming flight, he knew that it would be years—if ever—before Bluto hoisted a crew to orbit.

During the shift change briefing, he learned that the previous crew had been monitoring the launch preparations for several hours, and Bluto’s lift-off appeared imminent. After the briefing, he poured himself a cup of coffee, settled into his chair, adjusted his headphones, and prepared for the vigil that was sure to ensue. This wasn’t his first rodeo; months of experience had taught him not to be overly anxious. It might be hours or even days before the Soviets launched; quite often, the launch crews proceeded right to the very last tense seconds of the countdown, only to shut down because of some seemingly insignificant technical issue. Sometimes, the problems were swiftly resolved and the countdown resumed within minutes, but often the entire process had to be reset for another attempt.

But all indications were that this was a day when things—at least on the far side of the Black Sea—were going exactly according to plan. Besides Smith, several of the previous shift’s younger Squirrels remained on station, clustered around speakers at a back console. Rybalka chuckled; it looked like the fledgling interceptors were in for a good show.

His brow furrowed as he strained to hear a key frequency. He hushed some of the exuberant kibitzers, consulted his dope book, and then carefully adjusted his equipment. Rybalka was an accomplished radio tuner, absolutely adept at twisting and tweaking the dials until he acquired almost absolute fidelity.

In addition to his technical prowess, Rybalka had the uncanny ability to listen to and comprehend several conversations at the same time, so he was able to simultaneously monitor multiple channels. And unlike most of the other Squirrels, he didn’t struggle with Russian; he’d been fluent in the language long before joining the Air Force, courtesy of immigrant parents and an upbringing in Brighton Beach.

As he patiently listened, he came to realize that there was something very unusual about this launch. In monitoring distant events as they occurred, he didn’t just listen to the substance of the radio conversations, but he also divined content from nuance and emotion. In this instance, the Soviet flight controllers’ voices carried a clearly discernible measure of trepidation, as if they were perched on top of Bluto instead of being entrenched in a concrete bunker a safe distance from the launch pad. Rybalka was perplexed. Was this a manned launch? Were the Soviets actually risking a crew on such a largely unproven rocket? Why else were the controllers so apprehensive?

Rybalka had been on shift for less than an hour when the countdown went into its final moments, and he held his breath as the controllers succinctly reported that the booster engines had ignited correctly and the rocket was underway.

Within minutes, things abruptly went awry. Even as the controllers were speaking, reporting the rocket’s altitude and orientation, he heard a commotion on one of the secondary channels. The transmissions carried a barely masked undertone of panic. It was obvious that the usually unflappable Soviet controllers were concerned for their own safety. Their normally deadpan voices were agitated. Something was definitely amiss.

He heard the launch director frantically order that the flight be immediately terminated, and then he listened as the flight controllers initiated their procedures to destroy the platform. But then there was a twist that he hadn’t anticipated: A flight controller excitedly declared that the emergency rocket had successfully fired. Rybalka gasped. Emergency rocket? An emergency rocket was a launch escape system, which implied that the launch had to be a manned flight.

Like the American Gemini, the Soviets’ first manned spacecraft—the Vostok—was fitted with an ejection seat to save the cosmonaut in the event of a launch accident. Like the Apollo lunar spacecraft, the Soviets’ latest spacecraft—the Soyuz—was outfitted with a launch escape rocket at the very top, which would quickly yank the spacecraft—and crew—away from a malfunctioning booster.

Although they had monitored a multitude of launch accidents in the past, this was the very first one Rybalka had heard involving a manned flight. And it wasn’t resolved quickly; the incident went on for several hours after the ascent was scuttled. Lingering long after his shift was complete, he continued to monitor the frequencies as search and rescue parties were deployed to locate the spacecraft. It was long after midnight when he listened to a relayed transmission that airborne search crews had detected the faint pinging of a locator beacon in the rugged country northwest of Lake Balkhash. Dawn had barely broken over the Black Sea when Rybalka heard the search coordinator gleefully announce that a helicopter crew had discovered the capsule intact. Although the Soviets were the enemy, he breathed a sigh of relief; if the capsule was unharmed, then certainly the crew must also be safe.
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PROLOGUE THREE: MARCHING ORDERS

The Pentagon

3:25 p.m., Tuesday, January 31, 1967

Air Force Colonels Mark Tew and Virgil Wolcott quickly clambered out of a dark blue official sedan and followed a waiting escort officer into the Pentagon. Last night, both men had been called at their homes in California and directed to report here for a classified briefing. Their instructions were vague, but the matter was clearly urgent.

Tew and Wolcott had worked together, in one capacity or another, for almost three decades. They had both begun their military careers as B-17 bomber pilots in World War II and had gone on to fly fighters during the Korean War. Both were accomplished engineers; after Korea, they had labored on several aerospace research endeavors.

They were currently assigned to AFSC, Air Force Systems Command, in California, where they worked on the Air Force’s Manned Orbiting Laboratory. The Manned Orbiting Laboratory—more commonly known as the MOL—was a military space station that would be inhabited by a two-man crew. It was scheduled to be operational in 1972.

Unfortunately, their time with the MOL project was swiftly drawing to a close, since both men had been selected for promotion to brigadier general and consequently would have to be assigned elsewhere.

Physically, the two couldn’t be more different. Wolcott was balding, tall and rangy; his skin was permanently dry and cracked from his earlier days in windswept Oklahoma. The corners of his blue-green eyes were crinkled with deep crow’s feet, and his teeth were chipped and crooked.

At six feet, Tew was a couple inches shorter than Wolcott, but not nearly as slim; his age and sedentary lifestyle had deposited more than a few adipose pounds around his middle. Golfing was now his sole form of exercise, but his demanding workload left scant time for even that. Both men were fifty-two, but the weather-beaten Wolcott looked younger than Tew.

Tew was developing heavy jowls, and his prominent nose was a garden of red gin blossoms, a testament to his earlier days closing down the bars at officers’ clubs around the world. Incessantly pestered by his wife, Tew had reluctantly taken up a vow of sobriety. Silently, she gloated over winning the battle over the bottle, but it was really Tew’s job at AFSC that turned the tide against an early death from alcohol; the harsh reality was that there was just too much work and not enough time for drinking.

Neither man had any clue why they had been called to the Pentagon on such short notice.

“I’ll tell you, Mark, it’s that damned Apollo fire,” drawled Wolcott. He referred to the tragic incident at Cape Kennedy just last Friday, in which the Apollo One primary crew—astronauts Gus Grissom, Ed White and Roger Chaffee—had burned to death when their spacecraft’s cabin was engulfed by a flash fire during a “plugs out” pre-flight test on the launch pad.

“Apollo?” wheezed Tew, struggling to keep pace with their escort officer.

“Yup,” asserted Wolcott. “Everyone’s clamorin’ for an inquiry, and the big hats at NASA are goin’ to have to rustle up some impartial investigators to figure out what went wrong. Since we just got promoted and have to ride off the ranch in California, it makes perfect sense that the Air Force would loan us to NASA for the investigation.”

Tew nodded. The temporary assignment did make perfect sense. Moreover, he and Wolcott possessed the appropriate credentials, engineering expertise, and aerospace background. They were ideally suited for the task.

Their escort officer paused at the entrance to a secluded conference room deep within the bowels of the Pentagon. “They’re waiting for you, gentlemen,” he said, opening the door and stepping to the side.

Walking into the room, Tew saw that there were two flag officers present, Lieutenant General Hugh Kittredge of the Air Force and Admiral Leon Tarbox of the Navy. Both were senior representatives to the Military Spaceflight Task Group, a joint services steering committee that recommended spaceflight policies and strategies to key leaders. Ultimately, the primary purpose of the committee was to alleviate bickering among the services by fairly—to the greatest extent possible—parceling out the limited resources available to the Pentagon for manned spaceflight activities.

Short and stocky, Kittredge was fair-haired, with a ruddy complexion that looked as if he had spent a considerable amount of his life outdoors. He walked with a pronounced limp, courtesy of a crash landing in France during the War, followed by two years in a German POW camp. Standing, he greeted Tew and Wolcott and then gestured toward Tarbox, who remained seated at the table.

“Gents, I’m sure that you know Admiral Tarbox,” said Kittredge. “He’ll be sitting in with us today, representing the Navy’s interests.”

“Admiral,” said Tew icily, extending his hand. He had known Tarbox for well over a decade. Like Tew and Wolcott, Tarbox worked on the MOL project in California, but he was primarily concerned with ensuring that the Navy garnered their fair share of the effort.

“Colonels,” replied Tarbox, in an equally distant tone. Broomstick-thin, with white hair and a narrow face permanently dried and puckered by the sun, he looked like a wizened gnome. His shrill voice sounded less like a human’s, and more like the terse screech of an owl swooping to pounce on a baby rabbit. Almost lacking a personality, entirely devoid of humor, Tarbox was so insidiously corrosive that battery acid likely oozed through his veins.

He was decades beyond normal military retirement age. MOL workers had dubbed him The Ancient Mariner; one wag joked that the admiral probably still harbored sour memories of the day when he was ordered to finally furl his sails and surrender to steam power.

Tarbox obsessively insisted that the Navy, not the Air Force, should be leading any military manned spaceflight programs, including the MOL. He asserted that for strategic implications, the heavens were a logical extension of the oceans, so military operations in space should be the dominion of the Navy. There was some validity to his argument. Like the trackless oceans, space was immense and not subject to international boundaries. Moreover, on a very practical note, astronauts would navigate by the stars, using essentially the same techniques and tools employed by mariners for centuries.

Ironically, Tarbox and his Navy probably would hold sway over military space operations today, save for a series of unfortunate events. In 1955, the armed services presented competing proposals to develop and orbit the world’s first artificial satellite. The Navy’s concept—named Vanguard—was selected over an Army plan that would have used Wernher von Braun’s Redstone rocket as a booster. The Air Force didn’t even have a horse in the race; their plan, which relied on using a modified Atlas ICBM as a launch vehicle, wasn’t granted serious consideration because the Atlas was still in development.

Vanguard would have beaten the Soviet’s Sputnik into orbit, had it not suffered numerous technical problems. With considerable fanfare, the Soviets launched Sputnik in October 1957. In the end, the Army’s Explorer 1 was the first American satellite, launched into orbit atop a Jupiter-C—also designed by von Braun and his largely German team—in January 1958. The Navy’s Vanguard didn’t make it into space for another two months.

Despite the admiral’s outlandish opinions and outspoken behavior, Tew was mindful to tread lightly around Tarbox. It was easy to dismiss the acerbic admiral as an annoying kook, but Tew was well aware that he had the ears of some very powerful people, and his sphere of influence extended far beyond the military. Like Hyman Rickover, the brilliant but abrasive dean of the Navy’s nuclear program, Tarbox wielded vast political power.

Kittredge sat down and asked, “Mark, Virgil, do you have any idea why you’re here?”

“You called us here to work on the Apollo fire investigation, right?” asked Wolcott smugly.

Kittredge frowned and replied, “Not quite, Virgil. We have an entirely different crisis for you two to deal with.” He dropped a ponderously heavy binder on the table and added, “This is the executive overview summary of a program that we want you two to head up. We don’t have time to peruse the whole book, so I’ll just summarize. Just consider this the Reader’s Digest condensed version.”

Kittredge tugged an index card from the interior pocket of his uniform coat. “This is from a speech that Nikita Khrushchev made in 1961, just after the Soviets orbited their second cosmonaut.” He slipped on a pair of reading glasses and quoted from the card: “You do not have 50- or 100-megaton bombs, we have bombs more powerful than 100 megatons. We placed Gagarin and Titov in space, and we can replace them with other loads that can be directed to any place on Earth.”

Tew clearly remembered the speech, as well as the furor that ensued. Khrushchev’s vile threat of an Orbital Bombardment System—OBS—caused great consternation in the American military, and several programs quickly sprung up as possible options to counter the OBS.

In time, even after the US military had expended millions to accelerate anti-satellite research, the OBS threat diminished. As Khrushchev faded from power in 1964, so too did the threat of nuclear weapons raining down from space, with most American military planners assuming that it had been merely empty bluster on the part of the former Soviet premier.

“As both of you are aware, we haven’t been too concerned with this threat for quite some time,” stated Kittredge, removing his reading glasses. “But unfortunately, there have been some very startling developments as of late, and we are compelled to respond.”

Kittredge continued: “Two months ago, our Security Service station near Istanbul monitored the launch of the Soviet’s latest booster, the UR-500, from their launch complex in Tyuratam. I assume that you’re familiar with the UR-500?”

Tew nodded. He was very aware of the UR-500. Developed by the Chelomei aerospace design bureau, it had first been launched in 1965. It was huge, on scale with NASA’s Saturn I-B booster that would soon launch the early Apollo manned missions into earth orbit. Like the Air Force Titan II ICBM, also used to launch NASA’s Gemini spacecraft, the UR-500 relied on hypergolic fuels that did not require an igniter. It had initially been developed as an outsized ICBM, capable of heaving enormous nuclear warheads at the United States. Even though it was being used to launch various payloads, particularly the Soviets’ “Proton” research satellites, it was still apparently very prone to failure.

“This was a failed launch,” said Kittredge, interrupting Tew’s thoughts. “We’re not exactly sure what happened, but the Soviets intentionally destroyed the vehicle just a few minutes after liftoff.”

“Well, General, that’s obviously good news,” noted Wolcott.

Kittredge frowned and added, “Initial indications were that it was a manned flight…”

“Oh,” Wolcott muttered, shaking his head. “Sorry.” Despite the vast differences between East and West, one notion was sacrosanct: when it came to the exploration of space, any loss of life—American or Soviet—was lamentable.

Kittredge paused to sip from a glass of water, then continued. “As I said, the initial indications were that it was a manned flight. One of our voice interceptors recognized that the UR-500’s payload had been separated by an escape rocket system just as the booster was being destroyed, and he came to the conclusion—rightfully so—that it was a manned flight. Our people continued to monitor the search and recovery effort, and were able to ascertain that the payload—a very large capsule of sorts—was eventually recovered intact.”

“And if it wasn’t manned, then what?” asked Tew.

Kittredge’s reply was ominous. “We have substantial evidence to indicate that the Soviets were placing a nuclear warhead—a very large nuclear warhead—into orbit. Moreover, it’s very apparent that this launch was intended to be the first of many more, and that the Soviets are still aggressively pursuing an operational Orbital Bombardment System.”

Kittredge slid the binder across the table and flipped open the cover to reveal the first page. Tew and Wolcott read it together.

Looking up, Wolcott groaned. “Tarnations, Hugh, this danged boondoggle just looks a whole lot like Blue Gemini,” he lamented. “And we all know how that turned out.”

Tew nodded in agreement. Blue Gemini was a proposed program that would have run parallel with NASA’s follow-on to Project Mercury, launching military astronauts in the two-man Gemini spacecraft. Under Blue Gemini, the Air Force would have launched seven missions to research military applications of manned spaceflight. Because of its questionable objectives and because he viewed it as a duplication of NASA’s efforts, Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara axed the project in January of 1963.

Tew and Wolcott had worked on Blue Gemini for nearly three years; after it was cancelled, Tew walked away without a second thought, but Wolcott still seemed infatuated with the thought of sending military astronauts into space.

“Virgil, this is Blue Gemini,” answered Kittredge. “Or at least it’s the resurrection of Blue Gemini, with much more specifically designed objectives. There’s absolutely no pretense of conducting any quasi-scientific experiments. The mission is to surreptitiously intercept, inspect and—if warranted—destroy hostile satellites. NASA has shown us that the Gemini is more than capable for this task, and while they’re busy going to the Moon, we plan to exploit the Gemini for this mission. We’ve had this under wraps for a while, but with this new OBS development, we’re moving forward.”

Kittredge continued: “We’re going to preserve all the positive virtues of NASA’s Gemini, while adding new features specific to the mission. We’ll rely on a specially configured interceptor variant that we’re calling the Gemini-I. The hardware is already being built, as we speak.”

“The plan calls to amass a contingency stockpile of the Gemini-I spacecraft and launch vehicles, so that we have a strategic standby capability to intercept and interdict the Soviet OBS, when and if we determine that it’s a viable threat.”

“So there really ain’t plans to actually launch any of these critters, right?” asked Wolcott. “You’re just plannin’ to salt them away, just in case.”

Kittredge nodded. “That’s correct, Virgil. Except for a couple of unmanned flights to certify the hardware, we might be able to fly one manned mission to validate the concepts and technology, but that would be subject to approval at the highest levels of government, and I doubt that they would buy off on a practice shot with such a high degree of risk.”

“So you’re askin’ us to sink our hearts and souls into this, and there’s scarcely any chance that it will even leave the ground, right?”

Kittredge nodded again. “Mark, Virgil, I know that you two have put your hearts into the MOL,” he confided. “I know it has to be a huge disappointment to leave that program just as it becomes operational, but this is a matter of the highest strategic importance. You two should know that Bennie Schriever personally handpicked you to lead this project, over a year ago, before he retired.”

Tew swallowed; their former boss at Air Force Systems Command, General Bernard “Bennie” Schriever, was one of the most powerful men in the United States Air Force, if not the entire country. A brilliant four-star visionary, Schriever was personally instrumental in the development of the nation’s entire arsenal of strategic missiles. That Schriever would have so much confidence in him and Wolcott spoke volumes.

“We’re in,” uttered Tew. “All in.”

“Good. At this point, everything is falling into place, but there’s one loose end,” Kittredge said. “We haven’t identified a launch site.”

“Loose end?” drawled Wolcott. “A clandestine space program without a launch site is just a tad more serious than a danglin’ thread.”

“Vandenberg and Canaveral wouldn’t be suitable?” asked Tew.

Shaking his head, Kittredge sipped from his water glass. “Besides the obvious security concerns surrounding this effort, we anticipate firing into some very high inclination orbits. Actually, if at all possible, we would like to be able to shoot directly into any inclination.”

Tew saw the logic. Ideally, to reach any potential orbital inclination, the launch site would need to be as close to the equator as possible. Additionally, it should be at a remote location far removed from human habitation. It was far too risky to fire a rocket over a populated area, which was why Cape Canaveral was constrained to eastbound launches out over the Atlantic, and Vandenberg could only shoot to the south or slightly to the southeast.

As if waiting for an opportunity to pounce, Tarbox cleared his throat and interjected, “My staff has already examined this launch site issue at length, and we have an option. We’re confident that the Gemini-I could be launched from a surface ship. As a matter of fact, we’re already making plans to initially test-fire our new Poseidon ICBM from a surface ship.”

“Good point, Leon,” Kittredge said. “And we’ve reviewed the feasibility study that you forwarded to us, but we think it would be more advantageous to launch from a fixed site, provided we can find a suitable location.“

Tew grimaced; he had witnessed Tarbox at work before, and knew that once that admiral had even the slightest grip on the project, he would dig in his claws and it would only be a matter of time before he wrested the entire effort from the Air Force.

Tew looked toward Wolcott, hoping that his counterpart might have a quick answer to the launch site dilemma. Grinning broadly, Wolcott nudged him with his elbow, scrawled two words on a scrap of paper and slid it in front of Tew.

Tew glanced at the note, raised his eyebrows, nodded, and said, “General Kittredge, we have a launch location that should support all of your requirements. We’ll just need to verify that it can be made available to us.”

“Excellent,” said Kittredge.

“And coincidentally, it just happens to be real estate that the Air Force already holds claim to,” boasted Wolcott, grinning at Tarbox. “Of course, we might need a little assistance from the Navy to move our hardware there.”

“I’m sure that the Navy will be happy to oblige,” said Kittredge.

“I’m still not entirely clear how we fit into this plan,” interjected Tew, “if this project has essentially been underway for the past two years and the hardware is already being fabricated.”

“You two will assume the management role over the entire program,” answered Kittredge. “Including fiscal oversight and coordination of all the various moving pieces. The project will be based at Wright-Patterson. As I’ve said, virtually all of the pieces are already falling into place, except for one significant aspect. You will oversee the training and preparation of the flight crews and mission control team. To this end, to ensure that they’re operational in a timely manner, we’ve established a set of milestones for training.” Kittredge flipped through the binder’s contents until he came to a red-bordered page.

Tew and Wolcott scanned the page. “Whew,” exclaimed Wolcott. “This is some mighty demandin’ stuff.” He pointed at a line and added, “Here you’re expectin’ these boys to fly an intercept profile for forty-eight continuous hours. Is that even humanly possible?”

“We have no choice,” replied Kittredge. “Our preliminary studies show that it will likely take at least forty-eight hours, from launch to intercept, with an absolute minimum of assistance from the ground, to reach these targets. So, in order to declare the program as operational, we have to validate the concept.”

“And we have just a year to do this?” asked Tew.

Kittredge nodded.

“And what happens if we don’t make the cut?” asked Wolcott.

“Then I suspect that the program will be handed off to another entity,” stated Kittredge, looking toward Tarbox. “One that can make the cut.”

“When do we get our personnel?” asked Wolcott. “Are we goin’ to be compelled to go out and shake the bushes lookin’ for someone to do this thing?”

Kittredge answered, “We’ve identified twelve pilots—six crews—but we anticipate you trimming the roster down to four crews by the time this project is operational. All of these men are unmarried, to minimize personal problems that might interfere with the training, and have undergone extensive vetting for security and reliability issues. They’re top notch men; of the twelve, nine had previously applied to NASA for the astronaut program.”

“And they were rejected?” asked Wolcott. “That doesn’t exactly fill me with confidence, General. It’s a lot like getting the pick of the litter, but only after NASA already has picked over them.”

“They weren’t selected for very minor reasons,” explained Kittredge. “Suffice it is to say, most weren’t chosen because NASA perceived them as too military, and they were obviously concerned that they wouldn’t effectively blend into NASA’s culture or be suitable for the public relations work that comes with the astronaut job. Obviously, since we’ll be working primarily in the shadows, we’re not too concerned with these pilots’ ability to make polite speeches to the local Rotary Club.”

Adjusting his tie as he looked at the clock on the wall, Kittredge said, “Mark, Virgil, I’m a little pressed for time. Why don’t you read that material in greater detail, and we’ll chat tomorrow morning?”

Tew and Wolcott nodded in unison, and Tew began dividing up the pages in the briefing binder.

“If you have just a minute, General, I think we have an answer for the electrical power issues on the ocean surveillance MOL variant,” said Tarbox, removing a report from his leather attaché case. The ocean surveillance MOL was the admiral’s pet project; if realized, it would be a Navy-specific MOL mission crewed by Navy astronauts and controlled entirely by the Navy.

Kittredge smiled as he shook his head. “Nice try, Leon, but we’re here to wrestle just one bear today,” he observed, standing up and adjusting his coat. “We’re here to issue Mark and Virgil their marching orders and get them on their way. We’ll just have to table your project until we convene our next meeting.”
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THE LETTER

Base Exchange Snack Bar, Eglin Air Force Base, Florida

12:07 p.m., Thursday, April 11, 1968

Clutching a manila envelope tightly in his left hand, First Lieutenant Scott Ourecky leaned forward and kept a quick pace. He was only authorized an hour break for lunch, and the BX snack bar was a fifteen-minute brisk stroll from the Armament Lab facilities where he worked.

The letter had landed on his desk this morning, but he had yet to open it. After being turned down for flight training four times, he had requested a fifth waiver a month ago. He returned the salute of a passing airman and then examined the unopened envelope; it bore the return address and office symbol of the Air Force Military Personnel Center at Randolph Air Force Base, Texas. A rubber-stamped notice on the front stated “OFFICIAL BUSINESS” in red block letters. Surely, it contained the long-awaited reply to his appeal.

Arriving at the snack bar, he folded his blue garrison cap and neatly tucked it under the left epaulet of his “1505” khaki shirt. Next to the entrance was a full-length mirror under a sign that declared: “Look Sharp—Look Proud—Fly High—Air Force!” Ourecky paused to check his appearance. He adjusted his open collar before checking the “gig line” alignment of his shirt, belt and trousers.

There was nothing particularly distinctive about his appearance: He was a very ordinary-looking man from the American Midwest. His short black hair was precisely parted and combed neatly in place. His facial features—green eyes, moderately high cheekbones, short nose and sharp chin—reflected his Czech heritage.

Physically, he really hadn’t changed much since he had graduated from high school six years ago. Although he ate virtually anything that didn’t get out of his path, he seemed incapable of gaining weight. He wasn’t exactly frail, but his reflection looked like he was still awaiting the growth spurt that had eluded him in adolescence.

Satisfied that he was suitably presentable, Ourecky took a plastic tray from a stack and fell in line behind a queue of hungry airmen. He had hoped to beat the lunch rush but hadn’t escaped his desk in time. His heart thumped in his chest, partly from the hurried walk to get here, but mostly in anticipation of opening the letter.

As he came alongside the grill, he shouted his order to the harried cook. In truth, he wasn’t that fond of the snack bar’s fare. The burgers were consistently overcooked and saturated in grease, the French fries were typically undercooked and cold, and the pre-packaged sandwiches were so tasteless that they could have been stamped out of damp cardboard. The snack bar wasn’t exactly convenient for him, either. It would have been much simpler and faster for him to make a dash to the burger joint just off base.

Pushing his tray forward along stainless steel rails, he gazed toward the cash register at the end of the serving line and thought of his ulterior motive for enduring so many crappy meals. The cashier was a pretty brunette named Sara. Ourecky had been making small talk with her for the past three weeks but had not yet mustered sufficient courage to ask her out.

In their abbreviated conversations, he had gathered Sara’s biography in terse snippets.

Two years out of high school, she had aspirations of attending a cosmetology school as soon as she saved up enough money. She lived with her parents in nearby Niceville. Her father worked as a lumberjack for St. Joe Paper, clear-cutting pines to feed the company’s insatiable pulp mills. Her mother spent her days spooling blue denim into bolts at the Vanity Fair Mills textile plant in Milton. A Capricorn, Sara liked puppies, Corvairs, the Beatles, and Elvis. She disliked split ends, rude people, and country music.

A brusque shout interrupted his romantic musings. “Hamburger, extra onions?” queried the short order cook, thrusting a paper plate toward Ourecky.

“Uh, yeah, that’s mine,” replied Ourecky. He reached out for the plate, but another hand darted in to swiftly snatch it away. Noting that the man wore a major’s oak leaves on the shoulders of his flight suit, he politely said, “Uh, sir, uh, I think that’s my…”

“You don’t mind, do you, Lieutenant?” asked the major, quickly wielding a plastic fork to scrape away the extra onions. “I have to be back out to the flight line in a few minutes. I’m a test pilot. No time to waste. Know what I mean?”

The broad-shouldered interloper was roguishly handsome, with dense brown hair and matching mustache. His eyes were a startling shade of crystalline blue, almost unnaturally so, as if glistening particles had been snatched from the sky and embedded beneath his brows. He looked like someone destined to fly, who could not be anything else but an aviator. It was as if Steve Canyon had somehow clawed his way out of the two-dimensional confines of the Sunday comics, arriving here to lay claim to Ourecky’s hamburger.

Like Ourecky, the pilot wasn’t particularly tall, but then Scott remembered that NASA’s astronauts—his heroes—were also short of stature. The pilot squirted catsup on the hamburger before cutting all the way to the front of the line, directly to the cashier’s station. After paying the check, he leaned toward Sara and said something quietly. Giggling, she nodded and then smiled broadly as she jotted something on his ticket. The square-jawed pilot casually tucked the slip of paper into his pocket, picked up his tray, and then strode away to enjoy his purloined lunch.

Ourecky sighed as he selected a cellophane-wrapped egg salad sandwich from a nearby cooler. A faded label indicated that it had been prepared last week and that it should be eaten or discarded by today’s date. There were about twenty men in line in front of him, so it took almost five minutes for him to make it to the cash register.

“Hey, Scott,” said Sara, smiling as she made change from his dollar. “How’s it going today?”

“Just busy,” he replied, looking at the floor as he stuffed the coins into his front pocket. “Really busy. I guess I’ll see you tomorrow.”

“Yeah,” she replied. “Guess so. See ya then.” Sara kept glancing toward the handsome pilot, who was seated at a table about thirty feet distant. Finishing Ourecky’s hamburger, he wiped his lips with a napkin and grinned at her. She winked and smiled back.

Ourecky found an unoccupied table in a far corner. After taking his seat, he placed the letter on the table, flat and unopened, and studied it as he slowly consumed his bland sandwich. He contemplated the envelope’s significance; in a sense, it contained all of his boyhood dreams and all that he had worked for.

After his graduation and commissioning nearly two years ago, he was posted to Eglin Air Force Base, where he worked in armament design. Located in the Florida Panhandle, Eglin was a sprawling expanse of pine thickets, swamps, and bombing ranges. Pilots trained here on their way to Vietnam, perfecting their bombing and strafing skills. The huge complex also provided a perfect environment for testing the cutting edge ordnance concocted by Ourecky and his peers.

Although his path to the stars had taken a detour, he fervently poured himself into his labors at Eglin. There could be no man more perfect for the tasks assigned to him. When it came to understanding trajectories, the paths that objects follow through the air, he was a computational machine incarnate. He could literally picture complex calculations in his mind to study their nuances. Capitalizing on these abilities, he became instrumental in designing “stand-off” weapons that would enable a pilot to safely attack a target from a considerable distance away.

He finished the sandwich, washed it down with tepid milk, crumpled the wrapper and gently nudged the plastic tray aside. Even though he diligently applied himself to his work at the Armament Lab, Ourecky still stubbornly clung to his dream of becoming a pilot and eventually an astronaut. But would the Air Force grant him a waiver to attend flight school? The answer obviously resided in the envelope.

He could barely contain his excitement. He had recently read a best-selling self-help book, The Power of Positive Thinking, so he had convinced himself that he knew exactly what the letter would state. It would declare that the almighty United States Air Force had come to its collective senses and now understood the necessity of his continued service as a flying officer. Now, it was just a simple matter of opening the envelope to confirm that its contents matched the reality within his thoughts.

But opening the envelope wasn’t a simple matter. He just couldn’t will himself to do it. As strange as it might seem to others, mathematics had a calming effect on him, so he worked a few equations in his head to settle down. Slightly more focused, he decided that it was time to know the truth.

His fingers trembled as he slowly tore open the flap. He held his breath as he unfolded the crisp white paper, then forced himself to read the dispatch. The very first sentence curtly summed up the Air Force’s decision: “The applicant’s waiver request for flight training is hereby DENIED.”

As if to heap burning coals on his scorching disappointment, the letter succinctly added: “This office considers this matter CLOSED. In the interest of effective stewardship of the Air Force’s limited resources, this office admonishes the applicant to make NO subsequent attempts for similar waivers. Any future waiver attempt will be immediately referred to the applicant’s chain of command with a recommendation for potential disciplinary action.”

Tears welled in his eyes as he barely resisted the urge to curse out loud. As his face burned with anger and embarrassment, the paper slipped through his fingers. Like Icarus falling into the sea after flying too close to the sun, the single page—bearing Ourecky’s dreams of flight—slowly fluttered to the scuffed linoleum floor. He glanced up to see the handsome pilot, now standing at the register, chatting with Sara as he bought a slice of apple pie. Swaggering back to his table, the aviator winked at him.

He closed his eyes and gritted his teeth. He couldn’t remember when he had suffered so much humiliation in a single day. A few minutes passed before he felt someone tapping on his shoulder. He turned to see a heavyset man with features that were slightly Oriental, maybe Japanese or Korean or partly so. The man looked vaguely familiar; Ourecky was sure that he had recently seen him around the base.

“Lieutenant, I think you dropped this,” stated the stranger quietly, handing Ourecky the letter. “I thought it might be important.”

“Uh…thanks,” mumbled Ourecky, regaining his composure. He took the paper and turned away. He stuck the letter back in the envelope. Now that his fate was effectively sealed, his choices were much plainer. Since he could not be a pilot, it made little sense for him to remain in the Air Force. He would serve out the remainder of his term, complete the projects he was working on, and then apply for an advanced degree program, perhaps at MIT. Afterwards, he would submit an application to work at NASA; if he could not ascend into space himself, then perhaps he could help others to get there.
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NIGHT DROP AT EGLIN

Armament Evaluation Range Three-Alpha

Eglin Air Force Base, Florida

11:45 a.m., Monday, April 15, 1968

Crouched in a heavily fortified bunker, Scott Ourecky listened to the F-4 fighter make its run-in to the bombing range. Muffled by his earplugs and several feet of tightly packed dirt, the jet’s roar was barely audible. Looking out through an observation port, he gazed at a rusted tank hull—the target of today’s test—through a set of massive binoculars.

A radio speaker squawked: The pilot announced that he was thumbing the “pickle” switch to release the prototype robotic bomb. If all went well, the bomb would sail through the air on a pre-set trajectory, automatically adjusting its course with slight flicks and twitches of its tail fins.

Seconds later, the derelict tank disappeared in a sudden wash of flame and smoke. Whirling like a child’s toy, its decapitated turret sailed several yards into the air. Ourecky winced as the bunker was rocked by the shock wave of the bomb’s detonation. A cloud of fine dust quickly saturated the air; he covered his mouth and nose with a white handkerchief. Clods of dirt and chunks of scrap metal spattered the bunker’s reinforced earthen roof like hail. It took a few minutes for the smoke and dust to clear, and for the world to settle back to normalcy.

“Excellent!” declared the man standing next to Ourecky. “Dead on!”

“Huh?” asked Ourecky, cupping his ear as he swiveled around. “Sir, I can’t hear you.” Then he remembered the waxy cotton plugs jammed in his ears and tugged them out.

“Dead on,” repeated the man. He was Ourecky’s boss, Colonel Ron Paster, the director of Advanced Armament Design at Eglin Air Force Base. He was a tall man and had to stoop to fit inside the confined bunker. “I don’t think we could have nailed it any closer.”

Scribbling notes on the test, Ourecky nodded in agreement. They had refined the steering system just about as much as it could be refined; soon, the new bomb would make its lethal debut in the skies over Southeast Asia.

Smiling to himself, he reflected on how suddenly things had changed since receiving his rejection letter last Thursday. An opportunity had arisen that caused him to question his decision to leave the Air Force. Unbeknownst to him, at least until late Friday afternoon, he had been the subject of some intensive negotiations between his boss and an influential retired general at Wright-Patterson Air Force Base in Ohio. The former general wanted to shanghai him for a highly classified research project but was meeting significant resistance, since Ourecky’s current work was deemed vital to the ongoing war in Vietnam.

Eventually, Paster and the general hammered out a time-sharing agreement in which Ourecky would spend two weeks here, then the following two weeks at Wright-Patt, alternating between the two bases until at least one of the crucial projects was completed. Of course, all of this was contingent on whether he made it through his initial interviews and tests in Ohio.

Ourecky didn’t savor the notion of shuttling between projects and bases, but he was a miniscule cog in a large and complex machine. Besides, they promised to pin captain’s bars on him—over a year ahead of his peers—so there was something to be said for the deal. If nothing else, perhaps there was a remote chance he could etch out a career in the Air Force without ever wearing the silver wings of a pilot.

As Paster, Ourecky, and three other officers emerged from the bunker, momentarily dazed birds and shock-addled squirrels looked on in confusion. The acrid scent of cordite wafted heavily in the air, and the budding leaves of scrub oaks were coated with a patina of powdery brown dust.

The range phone jangled in a plywood shed. A sergeant answered it and called for Colonel Paster. After a short conversation, Paster spoke to Ourecky. “Scott, you’re supposed to meet Virgil Wolcott out at Auxiliary Field Ten this evening. He’s visiting the base for some sort of test. He’s expecting you out there at eighteen hundred. You need to wear civilian clothes suitable for being outside.”

Eglin’s expanse was dotted with outlying sub-bases called auxiliary fields, and Ourecky really wasn’t sure where Aux Field Ten was or how to drive there. In any event, he thought, he had a few hours to find out. “I’ll be there, sir,” he answered.

“Colonel, is that General Wolcott?” asked a major standing next to Paster. The major’s face was a mixture of surprise and confusion. The other officers appeared perplexed as well. “Ourecky is meeting General Wolcott? The General Wolcott?”

Paster nodded. “One and the same,” he answered, patting dust from his khaki uniform. “Except ol’ Virgil is no longer a general. He retired last year, and now he’s working on some hush-hush project up at Wright-Patterson. And gentlemen, let’s exercise a little discretion and keep this matter among ourselves.”

Eglin Air Force Base, Florida; 2:35 p.m., Monday, April 15, 1968

The hop from Ohio to Florida was exactly the kind of whirlwind hell-for-leather jaunt that Virgil Wolcott relished. Although he had retired over a year ago, the Air Force had granted him special authorization to continue flying, so long as he maintained proficiency and received his annual “up” slip from a flight surgeon.

Remaining on flight status was only one of several concessions he had been given to stay on as the deputy director—as a government civilian executive—of Blue Gemini. When he filed his retirement paperwork last year, he intended to spend the rest of his days riding horses and mending fences back on the family spread in Oklahoma, but a chance to jump behind the controls of a T-38 Talon whenever he desired was just too tempting to pass up. He and his back-seater, Mark Tew, had flown the T-38 down from Ohio to inspect some facilities at Eglin.

Following the ground marshaller’s signals, he deftly taxied the supersonic trainer to the spot where a transient alert crew awaited their arrival. Their Plexiglas canopies whirred open as the ground crew positioned ladders to facilitate their descent. Wolcott peeled off his damp flight gloves and dug a foil-lined packet of Red Man chewing tobacco out of a breast pocket of his flight suit. As he tucked a damp lump of tobacco in his mouth, he heard a rustling noise from the back seat. “Are you still doin’ paperwork back there, pardner?” he asked. “You couldn’t just relax and enjoy the scenery for a change?”

“No rest for the weary, Virgil,” replied Tew, hurriedly jamming a stack of documents into a leather attaché.

A tech sergeant climbed the ladder and threw Wolcott a salute almost as stiff as his starched utilities. Ticking off the last items on his post-flight checklist, Wolcott glanced up and casually returned the salute.

The tech sergeant related further instructions. “General, you can change clothes in the locker room in the Operations shed. My people will secure your flight gear. There’s a sedan and driver waiting at Operations that will take you on to your destination.”

Wolcott allowed the sergeant to unfasten the last few connections that secured his parachute harness to the ejection seat and then pushed himself up out of the narrow seat pan. His body ached like he had spent the past few hours tossing hay bales. He had always been a bit too tall for jet cockpits, and the T-38’s was no exception, but now he was starting to face the grim truth that he was getting a little too old for demanding cross-country flights.

Trying his best to appear fresh and nonchalant, he clattered down the ladder. While Wolcott flew every chance he had to keep current, Tew wasn’t that familiar with the T-38 and took slightly longer to disembark. As Tew gingerly descended, Wolcott opened an under-wing luggage pod and wrestled out the canvas kit bags that contained their clothes and sundries.

Half an hour later, they had doffed their flight gear and were in civvies. With the exception of flight gear and when he was summoned to the Pentagon, Tew rarely wore any semblance of a uniform. The same was true of the other military personnel assigned to Blue Gemini.

Wolcott stepped out from behind his locker door. He was dressed in starched blue jeans, a white shirt with pearl snap buttons, and well-worn cowboy boots. His neck was adorned by a bolo string tie bearing a gaudy slide fashioned of silver and turquoise. His slender waist was encircled by a brown leather belt fastened with a massive hand-tooled silver buckle.

In contrast to his compatriot, Tew had packed more conventional garb in his kit bag. He wore tailored khaki trousers, a light blue knit sport shirt, and brown penny loafers. “I see by your outfit that you are a cowboy,” chided Tew, paraphrasing Marty Robbins. “Virgil, do you suppose that there will ever come a day when you don’t dress like an extra in a spaghetti Western?”

“Mi amigo, now that I’m retired, I don’t much give a hoot what anyone thinks,” replied Wolcott, donning a genuine white Stetson hat to complete his ensemble.

3:15 p.m.

In front of the Operations building, Master Sergeant Jimmy Hara patiently waited beside an official blue Ford sedan. Short, bulky, with a crew cut and sparse moustache, Hara was a Japanese-American counter-intelligence specialist with eighteen years experience in the Air Force. He slid in behind the wheel and donned sunglasses as Tew and Wolcott quickly took their places in the car’s back seat.

“So, Jimmy, you’ve been keepin’ a watchful eye on this kid Ourecky?” asked Wolcott, rolling down his window before lighting a cigarette.

“That I have, Virgil,” replied Hara, yawning as he pulled away from the curb. “Care for a report?”

“Sure, pard,” answered Wolcott. “What sort of skeletons did you find rattlin’ in his closet?”

“None. Not a single bone. If you must know, Virgil, this has been the most boring two weeks of my life. I’ve known Shinto monks who lead more exciting lives than this egghead.”

“How so, Jimmy?” asked Tew, opening a spiral-bound report in his lap.

“Well, sir, he usually works at least twelve hours a day, seven days a week. If he’s not at work, he’s at his room at the BOQ. He doesn’t hang out at the Club and rarely goes off base. Quiet as a church mouse. I’m not even sure that he drinks.”

“Girlfriend?” asked Wolcott.

Hara shook his head. “Not that I can tell. This guy is definitely not a social butterfly. Very much the loner. It looked like he had his eye on a little local number who works at the base snack bar, but I think she’s a lot more interested in pilots than engineers.”

“And what red-blooded American woman wouldn’t be more partial to pilots, pard?” asked Wolcott, cupping his hand around his cigarette to shield it from the breeze. “Anything else?”

“Not really, Virg. I’ve had his phone tapped for the past two weeks, but he’s only placed two calls. Both were to his parents in Nebraska.”

“So he’s clean?” asked Tew. “No problems? No outside commitments? Not married?”

Hara looked in the rear view mirror and smirked. “No distractions. And I don’t see him getting hitched anytime soon, General.”

“Excellent. Good job, Jimmy. As always.”

As he drove northwest along an isolated base road lined by pine forests, Hara looked back momentarily and said, “Virgil, even though it’s none of my business, Ourecky sure looks like just an ordinary lieutenant. He sure doesn’t seem to be anyone special, not like some of the pilots you’ve had me pull surveillance on.”

Chuckling, Wolcott said, “Quite the contrary, Jimmy. For starters, besides bein’ a crackerjack engineer, he’s a bona fide math genius with a practical background in ballistics and trajectories. Personally, I don’t claim to be too danged smart, but I can pick horses, and if my instincts are right, Ourecky is the best bet to solve our biggest problem.”

“He’s your fix for the Block Two computer?” asked Hara, adjusting his sunglasses.

“You’ve got your nose in everything, don’t you, Jimmy? Yup, I think he’s the man to fix it.”

“Let’s hope you’re right, Virgil,” Tew interjected, glancing up from his report. “This Block Two situation is starting to wear on me.”

“Yup, with any luck, this kid Ourecky could be our great salvation,” Wolcott said. “Hey, Mark, after we meet with Isaac Fels, how about we grab an early dinner? I know a great little rib shack over in Milton. Best danged fall-off-the-bone barbecue on the Panhandle. It’s just a few minutes away.”

“Sure, but can you make it back in time for the drops tonight?” asked Tew. “At least one of us should be there.”

“So ain’t you comin’ out to watch tonight?” asked Wolcott, removing his left boot and scratching his toes. “It should be a good show.”

“No. Paperwork, Virgil, always more paperwork. I have an all-nighter ahead of me.”

“Suit yourself. I’m hankerin’ to see the drops, of course, but I ain’t particularly relishin’ the thought of seein’ Agnew again.”

“Problem?” queried Tew, penciling notes in the margin of a budget summary.

“Yup. Agnew’s usual guff. Him and Carson didn’t exactly geehaw at the desert survival course out at Stead, and now Agnew’s spoutin’ off about a transfer out of the Project again. His bellyachin’ is really starting to dig under my hide, pardner.”

“You’ll handle it, Virg. You always do.”

Auxiliary Field Ten, Eglin Air Force Base, Florida; 5:45 p.m.

The waning sun hovered low over the horizon as Ourecky arrived at Auxiliary Field Ten. Towering pines swayed in the evening breezes blowing in from the Gulf of Mexico. He was surprised at the extent of activity at the field even this late in the day. A typical auxiliary field was just a patch of bare ground, with a rudimentary airstrip and little else, but this one was almost like a miniature airbase unto itself. Secluded on the distant fringes of Eglin, it contained an interlocking pair of paved runways, as well as a small complex of buildings and hangars.

As Ourecky got out of his car, a rangy man strolled out of the hangar to meet him. Wearing blue jeans, a faded denim jacket and a cowboy hat, the tall stranger looked like he was on his way to a rodeo or perhaps a cattle drive. “Lieutenant Ourecky?” he asked.

“Uh, that’s me. I’m Lieutenant Ourecky, sir.”

The man chuckled. “I’m Virgil Wolcott. Any problems drivin’ out here?”

Ourecky was taken aback; the rawboned, mufti-clad man standing before him was not at all what he had expected. “None at all, sir. It’s an honor to meet you, General.”

“Just call me Virgil,” drawled Wolcott, extending a hand. “The stars fell off when I shed the blue suit. Care for some coffee, Lieutenant? There’s a fresh percolator brewin’ inside.”

“Sir, I’ll pass if you don’t mind. It’s a little late in the day for me to be drinking coffee.”

“Suit yourself, pardner. We’re conducting some drop tests this evening, so it’s going to stretch into a mighty long night for me. Let’s head inside.”

Within the hangar, several men conferred beside the open rear ramp of a C-130 cargo plane. Most were attired in standard gray-green flight gear, but two wore pumpkin-orange flight suits and parachute harnesses.

Ourecky glanced inside the transport’s capacious cargo bay, and was surprised to see a full-scale mockup of a Gemini two-man spacecraft. Strapped down to a plywood skid resting on two parallel tracks of conveyor rollers, the capsule mock-up appeared ready for ejection from the C-130, in the same manner as vehicles or heavy equipment bundles dropped by cargo parachute. Since NASA’s Gemini program had ended two years ago, he was curious what system was being tested this evening.

The meeting broke up, and the C-130 crew went to their stations to prepare the plane for takeoff. “Let me introduce you to a couple of our top hands,” said Wolcott, leading Ourecky toward the men in orange. Both were deeply tanned, as if they had just returned from a prolonged vacation at the beach, and appeared to be in excellent physical condition. “This here is Major Drew Carson and Major Tim Agnew. Gents, this is Lieutenant Scott Ourecky. If the stars line up, he’ll be doin’ some special engineering work for us.”

Carson looked extremely familiar to Ourecky, and finally he realized where their paths had crossed. “Uh, Major Carson and I have already met.”

Momentarily puzzled, the pilot studied the engineer’s face. He grinned and noted, “Yeah, Virgil, the lieutenant and I shared lunch last week, down at the main base snack bar.”

“So you two are already acquainted?” asked Wolcott. “Ain’t it just an itty-bitty little world?”

Ourecky shook hands with both pilots. In contrast to the poster-perfect Carson, Agnew was plain-featured, about six feet tall, with thinning blonde hair. Strapping a navigation kneeboard to his right thigh, he appeared apprehensive about tonight’s planned activities.

Ourecky noticed that Agnew made a point to slip off his flameproof Nomex gloves to shake hands. On the other hand, the aloof Carson didn’t take off his gloves. He treated Ourecky with blatant disdain, like the subtle contempt that aristocracy reserves for the masses, as if he were of some servile subclass not worthy to rub shoulders with the likes of a vaunted test pilot.

“All up, gents?” asked Wolcott. “Ready to drop?”

Agnew frowned and answered furtively, “I would be lying if I told you I was thrilled to ride this sled again, Virgil. I’m just not entirely confident that all the kinks have been worked out. It’s only a matter of time before…”

Carson smiled and interrupted with, “We’re ready, Virg. Tim’s just experiencing a few butterflies. They’ll pass. He’ll be just fine.”

“Well then, time’s a’ wastin’. Let’s saddle up and drive this herd,” declared Wolcott. He glanced up at the cockpit, grinned, and flashed the pilot a thumbs up.

Carson tugged on his helmet and made some minor adjustments to his parachute harness. He turned to board the C-130 through the crew door, just aft of the cockpit.

“A moment of your time, sir?” asked Agnew sheepishly, donning his helmet.

“What’s on your mind, buck?” replied Wolcott.

“I was wondering if you’ve had an opportunity to consider my reassignment paperwork, Virgil. If you recall, I gave it to you right after we came back from Stead, about a week ago.”

“Yeah, I recollect you givin’ me that transfer request, pard.” Obviously perturbed, Wolcott spat tobacco juice into a nearby waste can. “But you need to come to grips with the fact that it ain’t happenin’. First, if you had trepidations about this business, you should have aired them before you signed on the dotted line. Second, you know danged well that we’re down to three flight crews, so you shouldn’t feel too offended if I ain’t overly disposed to hasten your departure. Now, mount up and ride, brother. That’s what you volunteered for, so snap to it.”

“If I can’t transfer, sir,” said Agnew, snugging the chest strap of his parachute harness, “would you at least consider shifting me to another crew? Please?”

Wolcott’s face gradually took on a shade of red. “And break up another crew? Like I said, buster, we only have three crews. I can’t shift you without first wranglin’ someone to fly with Carson, and you know full well the likelihood of that happening. Look, Carson’s a tad obnoxious and a mite volatile, but he’s a danged good pilot. You couldn’t be in any better hands. Can’t you find a way to make peace with him?”

Agnew rubbed his left shoulder and replied, “I’ll try, Virgil, but you’re asking a lot. Maybe more than I have to give.” He pivoted away and climbed aboard the transport plane.

Turning to Ourecky, Wolcott said, “Sorry you had to witness that, son. Agnew’s a good hand, but he needs to learn that he can’t always choose who he flies with. In any event, I would appreciate it if you kept that little transaction to yourself.”

“Will do, sir.”

Wolcott walked over to a table and filled a Thermos from a large metal urn. “Let’s mosey on out to the strip, pard,” he said, screwing the lid on the insulated bottle. “We’ll watch the show from out there. We can chat on the way.”

The two men strolled out of the hangar as the C-130’s engines roared to life. They walked along a grassy strip adjacent to a taxiway. By now, the sun had all but retired from the sky; the buildings and trees were bathed in the red-hued light of near dusk.

With turboprop engines groaning, the C-130 emerged from the hangar and rolled slowly along the taxiway. Doffing his Stetson, Wolcott waited for the plane to pass and for the noise to subside. He pulled a small envelope of chewing tobacco from a breast pocket of his denim jacket, spat out a depleted wad, and replaced it with another. “Chaw?” he asked, offering the pouch to Ourecky.

“Uh, pass, sir.”

“Son, I want you to know that Colonel Paster speaks very highly of you. As much as he doesn’t want to share you, it sounds like you’re just the man we’re lookin’ for.”

“Thank you, sir.”

“I s’pose you want to know what you’re getting into. The official name for our outfit is the Aerospace Support Project. We run it out of Wright-Patterson, but we have facilities all over, like this field here. We have a big charter, and we’re always on the lookout for new talent.” Without elucidating, Wolcott walked on.

After a few minutes, Ourecky broke the silence. “Umm, that sounds very intriguing, sir.”

Wolcott chuckled and spat. “If I was walkin’ in your boots, Lieutenant, I would say it sounded a trifle vague. You ain’t inclined to nibble on the hook and ask what we do?”

Ourecky shook his head. “Sir, uh, I assumed you would tell me when you saw fit.”

Wolcott smiled. “Not askin’ a lot of questions is an admirable quality, son. Especially with the sort of chores we do. You might fit in just fine.”

At the end of the runway, the C-130 taxied into takeoff position and paused for several seconds as its engines roared up to full power. Gathering speed, the plane rolled down the runway, lifted off, and disappeared into the growing darkness.

Half an hour later, the two men reached the test site, a dirt “assault strip” that ran parallel to the main runway. Assault strips were commonly used by C-130 crews to practice the tactical landing and takeoff skills that would be so critical to them in Southeast Asia. Ourecky discerned the outlines of a pickup truck and a jeep, and heard the voices of several men.

“Excuse me, pard,” said Wolcott. “I need to go chat with these folks. I’ll be right back.”

Ourecky watched the angular general saunter away in the darkness and then lifted his eyes toward the heavens. The sky was startlingly clear, and he picked out familiar stars to orient himself. He quickly found his old friend Cassiopeia and used its lazy “W” shape as a guide to look down and to the right to find Ursa Major—the “Big Dipper”—and Polaris, the North Star. Looking toward the east, he found the two stars—Gomeisa and Procyon—that comprised the constellation Canis Minor, and then he glanced to the west to locate the four stars—Markab, Algenib, Scheat and Sirrah—that marked the corners of the big box in Pegasus. With his bearings fixed, he jammed his hands deep in his trouser pockets and waited for Wolcott.

A few minutes later, Wolcott returned. Obviously comfortable in the tranquil darkness, he guided Ourecky to the rear of the pickup truck, opened the tailgate, and sat down. “Hunker here with me, buckaroo,” he drawled. “Let’s jaw while we’re waitin’ for the festivities to begin.”

Ourecky sat next to Wolcott on the tailgate. Shuddering, he regretted that he hadn’t brought a jacket. The temperature had dropped at least five degrees since the sun had disappeared.

“I saw you stargazing over here,” noted Wolcott. “Your college transcripts said you took several astronomy courses. Ain’t that a might peculiar for someone majorin’ in engineering?”

Ourecky was taken aback. College transcripts? They’ve looked at my college transcripts? “Just something that I picked up back at home, sir,” he explained. “You can see a lot of stars in the sky out there on the farm, and I just wanted to learn some more.” He paused and added, “And I had wanted to eventually go to work for NASA, so I thought it might come in handy.”

“Well, hoss, believe it or not, we might be able to put that knowledge to use.” Wolcott’s cigarette glowed bright red as he drew in deeply; his crinkled face was illuminated in the dim glow. “Hey, Ourecky, if you know your stars, maybe you could help me out. As far back as I can remember, even when I first started ridin’ the range as a young buck, I used to spy an itty-bitty group of stars and always thought it was the Little Dipper.” Wolcott pointed out into the night sky. “Right over there, just above the trees. What’s that constellation?”

“Uh, that’s the Pleiades, sir. It’s not really a constellation; it’s a star cluster. It’s my favorite.”

Wolcott smiled. “Your favorite? Really? It’s pretty durned bright, ain’t it?” He looked at the luminous dial on his watch, spat a long string of tobacco juice into the darkness, and then took a sip of coffee. “Now, Ourecky, I can’t really tell you much about what you’ll be doin’ up at Wright–Patt, but I did want to chew the fat before you came up for your formal interview. Next week, you’ll be meetin’ with me and my compadre, Mark Tew. I want to caution you that Mark’s still on active duty, and he’s a lot more formal than I am, so don’t let my behavior be your guide.”

“I appreciate the heads up, sir.”

Wolcott topped off his cup from the Thermos. “Paster tells me that you’re interested in going back to school after your Air Force stint is up. Is that correct?”

“Yes, sir,” replied Ourecky. “I did some independent study on orbital mechanics while I was earning my undergraduate degree, and I would eventually like to go back for a PhD. Hopefully, I’ll go to work with NASA after that.”

“Well, I sure ain’t going to fault you for wanting to hitch a leg up, pardner. Do you have any particular school in mind?”

“Uh, I’m looking at MIT, sir. That’s where Colonel Aldrin did his thesis on rendezvous. Are you familiar with Aldrin? He’s an astronaut now.”

In the darkness, Wolcott grinned. “Yeah, pard, I’m familiar with Buzz. Quite a thinker, that one. Have you pondered about possibly seekin’ your PhD on the Air Force’s nickel?”

“Sir?”

“Look, son, if you do a good job for us, then we can certainly exert some influence on your behalf. The Air Force has plenty of money to pay for advanced degrees, and Mark Tew has the connections to loosen those purse strings. Of course, that would mean remainin’ in the Air Force for a few more years before you have an opportunity to work for NASA, but the Air Force also has space projects you might be able to work on. You ever heard of the MOL?”

“MOL? Uh, the Manned Orbiting Laboratory, sir?”

“One and the same,” replied Wolcott. He finished his coffee and screwed the plastic cup back onto the top of the Thermos. “I have some friends workin’ on it. If you’re hankerin’ to do space work, I’m sure that we could wrangle you a slot there later.”

A man walked up and spoke. “Virgil, we’re just about to open the curtains. Taco Two Six should be closing in on the communications checkpoint at any moment.”

Wolcott buttoned up his denim jacket and said, “Well, it’s time for me to earn my paycheck.”

Not too far from the rear of the truck, a technician shined a flashlight on an instrument and fidgeted with some dials. The device was about the size of three footlockers stacked atop one another, crowned by a round object that looked like a large hatbox. “That’s a portable TACAN beacon,” explained Wolcott. “We’ve been workin’ on it for quite a while. With that critter, our boys can set up an instrument approach on just about any airfield in the world.”

Ourecky heard the faint drone of the C-130 in the distance. The radio crackled. “Taco Two Six is at CCP.”

“Taco Two Six, this is Exercise Control. I copy you are at CCP,” answered a sergeant monitoring the radios. “Sir, they’re at the communications checkpoint. Five minutes to drop.”

“Thanks, Jack,” Wolcott said. He turned to Ourecky. “Just so you know, we’re runnin’ a night flight test on a Rogallo paraglider. You ever heard of a Rogallo wing, son?”

“I have, sir. It’s kind of a cross between a parachute and a glider, isn’t it? I think NASA considered them for the Gemini program. But didn’t they abandon the whole concept?”

“NASA dropped it, but the Air Force didn’t,” replied Wolcott. “We’re still lookin’ at the paraglider for the MOL, among other things. We’re really trying to avoid having our Gemini capsules splash down at sea. For one thing, the Air Force doesn’t own fleets of ships that we can scatter all around the world, and we would just as soon limit our reliance on the Navy.”

“Good point, sir,” noted Ourecky. Now the Gemini mock-up made perfect sense to him; the test was obviously associated with the Air Force’s ongoing MOL program.

“That ain’t all. A spacecraft is built of metals that are highly vulnerable to corrosion, plus it’s loaded to the gills with high-dollar electronics and wiring. Soaking one in salt water is a surefire way to ruin it. It you could return them to dry land instead of dunkin’ them in the ocean, you can reuse them. Granted, the paraglider ain’t perfect and we still have plenty of kinks to work out, but we’re making good headway on refining the concept.”

Their conversation was interrupted by the radio squawking, “Control, this is Taco Two Six. Angels Two Zero. Two minutes from release.”

The sergeant replied, “Taco Two Six, I copy you are at Angels Two Zero and two minutes from release.”

“Lights,” ordered Wolcott quietly.

The sergeant spoke a few words into the radio, and almost immediately the entire area was dark. All the runway markers were doused, as well as all the lights on the compound next to the runways. Several men lit red railroad flares to mark the edges of the dirt assault strip.

“Taco Two Six is one minute out.”

With the lights extinguished, the sergeant’s face was barely visible in the glow of the radio dials. “Taco Two Six, this is Exercise Control. I copy that you are one minute from release point. Break, break, break…All stations, all stations, all aircraft in the vicinity of Eglin Air Force Base, be advised that paradrop operations are currently in progress in a five-mile radius of Aux Field Ten, twenty thousand feet AGL to surface. All aircraft are directed to remain clear of this airspace.”

“Control, this is Taco Two Six. Thirty seconds. Request clearance for release.”

Gazing up into the darkness, Ourecky glimpsed the faint red and green anti-collision lights of the C-130. It was about four miles away, flying west to east above the Florida Panhandle.

“Taco Two Six, Control, I copy you are thirty seconds away. Airspace is cleared. You are cleared for release.”

“Control, this is Taco Two Six. Copy cleared for release. Thank you.”

A new voice came over the radio: “Control, this is Chase One. In position.”

“Chase One, I copy that you are in position.” The sergeant turned and translated the chatter for Ourecky. “Taco Two Six is the C-130 making the drop. Angels Two Zero means that he’s at twenty thousand feet. Chase One is an OV-10 Bronco trailing Taco Two Six. He’ll observe the drop. Call sign for the paraglider test vehicle is Ultra Zero One. Here at Eglin, the Ultra call sign designates an unpowered aircraft.”

The C-130 pilot spoke. “Control, this is Taco Two Six. Count down to release. Five, four, three, two, one, Mark. One package away. Stand by, stand by, stand by.”

“Control is standing by for confirmation of release,” stated the sergeant, keying the radio handset.

“Control, this is Taco Two Six. My loadmaster reports that the package is clear.”

“Control, this is Chase One. Package in view. Drogue is deploying…drogue is deployed. Paraglider is deploying. I see longitudinal struts inflating and cross strut inflating.” After a few tense moments elapsed, Chase One reported, “Paraglider appears fully deployed.”

Except for a slight buzz of static, the radio was silent for a few minutes. A terse voice finally broke the silence; Ourecky recognized the speaker as Agnew. “Control, this is Ultra Zero One. Receiving TACAN on Channel Six. Command pilot reports that paraglider deployed correctly and is fully controllable with nominal steering response.”

“Ultra Zero One, Control, copy TACAN on Channel Six and paraglider deployed normally.”

Several minutes passed as the men gazed out into the night sky. Ourecky saw the running lights of the twin-engine Bronco spotter plane, but had yet to spot the paraglider. Straining to find the unpowered craft, he cupped his hands around his eyes to shield out the red glare from the railroad flares.

“Don’t look directly at the chase plane right now, pardner,” advised Wolcott. “Scan more to the right. They’re flyin’ a right-handed pattern to our north. Carson will fly parallel to us west to east, then swing around to land east to west.” Wolcott unzipped a fabric case and pulled out a PVS-2 “starlight scope.” The starlight scope—which amplified ambient light from the stars and moon—was brand new technology and was only now being delivered to combat troops in Southeast Asia. He flipped a switch on the device; it hummed audibly as he held it up to his eye.

Ourecky looked to the north and finally distinguished a dark shape as it passed over and blotted out bright stars. Against the stark black sky, the paraglider and Gemini mock-up weren’t discernible shapes, but just a vague blob sailing through the night.

“Control, this is Ultra Zero One, turning right to base.” Ourecky recognized Carson’s voice.

“Ultra Zero One, I copy that you are turning right to base leg,” replied the sergeant.

A few moments later, Carson spoke again. “Control, this is Ultra Zero One, turning right to final. Field in view. Gear down and locked.”

“Control, this is Chase One. I confirm that Ultra Zero One’s gear are down and locked.”

The sergeant responded: “Chase One, good copy. Ultra Zero One, Control, copy gear down and locked. Winds from Two Two Zero at three knots. Surface is packed earth. Ultra Zero One, you are cleared to land on Assault Two Seven.”

“Control, this is Ultra. Copy winds from Two-Twenty at three, cleared to land on Assault Two Seven.”

Finally, Ourecky glimpsed a shadowy object gently gliding toward the assault strip. He heard a gentle popping sound of the fabric wing. He could barely make out the outline of the Gemini mock-up suspended under the paraglider. The dark apparition reminded him of an immense raptor, returning from a nocturnal hunt with a terrified rabbit clutched in its talons.

“Contact light. Flaring paraglider,” reported Carson.

As it drew nearer, the rear of the paraglider drooped sharply downwards as the pilot intentionally stalled it to increase its braking effect. Suddenly, a loud scraping noise confirmed that the object had made contact with the runway.

“Releasing paraglider,” stated Carson. As the jettisoned paraglider fluttered to the ground, the Gemini mock-up continued to slide down the dirt strip, trailing a shower of sparks.

Startled, Ourecky nudged the sergeant and asked, “Did something happen to his wheels?”

“Skids,” replied the sergeant. “He doesn’t have wheels. Just skids.”

Once the mock-up had come to rest, Carson’s voice came over the radio. Laughing, he said, “Ultra Zero One on Assault Two Seven, waiting for taxi instructions.” A few seconds passed, and he added, “Be advised my right-seater got kayoed on the landing.”

“Jack, ask him if Major Agnew is injured,” said Wolcott, switching off the starlight scope and slipping it back into its rubberized case.

“Ultra, is your right-seater injured?” asked the sergeant.

“Control, this is Ultra. Yeah. It looks like he didn’t brace properly and smacked his face on the controls. He’s conscious now but sustained a pretty nasty gash to his forehead. I think he’ll need a few stitches.”

Wolcott whistled lightly and commented, “We’ll forgo the remainder of this evening’s drops, buckaroos. Jack, I’ll ride with Agnew to the dispensary. After you dismantle everything, would you be so kind as to shepherd the lieutenant back to our hangar?” He slapped Ourecky lightly on the back. “Ourecky, I’ll see you up in Ohio next week.

“I’ll see you there, sir.” Shivering slightly in the cool night air, Ourecky looked toward Wolcott; the older man’s silhouette was outlined by the red glow from the sputtering marker flares. In the strange light, he looked almost surreal, like a demonic apparition. Ourecky felt an awkward urge to salute the retired general but let it pass. The two shook hands and parted company.


6

INSOMNIACS

Aerospace Support Project

Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio
11:53 p.m., Thursday, April 18, 1968

Air Force Brigadier General Mark Tew sputtered awake from a sound slumber. He rubbed his bleary eyes before consulting his Timex watch: the faint luminous hands reflected that it was seven minutes before midnight. He had been asleep for slightly less than an hour. As had been his routine for the past five years, he would lie down for another nap in five hours and then repeat the cycle throughout the day.

Yawning, he pushed aside a thin blanket, swiveled upright on the canvas Army cot, pulled on his blue cotton bathrobe, slipped his feet into soft suede moccasins, and then padded into the adjoining office that he shared with his deputy, Virgil Wolcott.

Tew opened a Mosler safe behind his desk, removed a highly classified intelligence summary of some recent ominous developments in the Soviet Union, and resumed his nocturnal chores. He sat down, switched on a desk lamp, stretched, closed his eyes, and thought about how he came to be at Wright-Patterson and why he felt so compelled to work at all hours of the day and night.

He attributed his irregular sleeping habits and intense work ethic to his former boss at Air Force Systems Command, General Schriever. Besides his legendary intellect and movie star looks, Schriever was renowned for his uncanny ability to function for days on end without regular sleep. He maintained his inexorable pace by periodically sneaking catnaps. He conditioned his closest subordinates to do likewise, counseling them to always grab a few winks before making any crucial decisions or attending any important meetings. During their stint at AFSC, Tew and Wolcott had relentlessly pushed themselves, striving to keep pace with their exalted boss, snatching rest when they could, like combat infantrymen who learned to doze on the march.

In truth, to imply that they merely worked for General Schriever was not nearly an accurate description of the relationship; they were sworn acolytes of the man. AFSC was the development hub for the nation’s strategic arsenal of ballistic missiles, but Schriever had directed Tew and Wolcott to focus their energies on the military’s role in the rapidly expanding universe of space exploration and exploitation.

In their eyes, if there could be a god of military space programs, like a focused god of Greek mythology, then Schriever was the one who set the stars in the firmament—and then adjusted their brightness and clarity so that they could be seen by lesser men. But all comparisons to ancient deities aside, a more tangible indicator of Schriever’s tremendous reach and power was the fact that he personally controlled almost forty percent of the Air Force’s budget before he retired two years ago.

Though their recent work was largely theoretical, Tew and Wolcott were intimately familiar with the sacrifices of war and the fragility of peace. As B-17 bomber pilots in World War II, they had witnessed close friends blown to pieces right before them. They had seen massive planes instantly transformed into shredded aluminum, flame and smoke. And while they didn’t see it with their own eyes, they were very conscious of the death and devastation wrought by the ordnance they rained on cities below.

After the war, Tew shifted from bombers to fighters. He much preferred the personal one-on-one nature of fighter combat to the cold impersonality of strategic bombing. In 1950, assigned to the Fifth Air Force in Japan, he flew an F-80 Shooting Star against North Korean MiGs after Communist forces crossed the Yalu River. He later transitioned to the F-86 Sabrejet, and by tugging a few strings, he succeeded in bringing his friend Wolcott over as well, and the pair piloted F-86’s for the remainder of the war.

After Korea, in the post-war heyday of aerospace research, Tew’s career followed in Wolcott’s wake. Despite the homespun demeanor reminiscent of his Oklahoma upbringing, Wolcott established a reputation as a practical thinker who could envision new ways to exploit the new technologies arriving at the forefront. What he lacked was the capacity to match fiscal realities and bureaucratic constraints to his ideas. In counterpoint, Tew had mastered the arcane arts of managing budgets, designing organizations, and doing those things necessary to bring Wolcott’s lofty concepts from the drawing table to the skies. They existed as a symbiotic pair, closer to one another than they were to their own wives.

But much to their chagrin, the two had been burdened with a string of troublesome projects. In the late fifties, they had toiled on an effort to build a nuclear-powered bomber, capable of flying from the United States to the Soviet Union and back without refueling. But extensive technical problems—especially the lack of a nuclear reactor light enough to be safely carried aboard an airplane—eventually led to the program’s cancellation in 1961.

After the demise of the original incarnation of Blue Gemini, the pair was transferred to Ohio’s Wright-Patterson Air Force Base to work on the X-20A Dyna-Soar. Dyna-Soar, short for “Dynamic Soaring,” was envisioned as a winged, reusable space plane that would be launched on a rocket booster, execute missions in space, and then return to earth as an unpowered glider. Had it come to fruition, Dyna-Soar would have performed several potential roles: Hypersonic flight research, inspection of hostile satellites, strategic bombing, space logistics and reconnaissance.

McNamara closed down Dyna-Soar in December of 1963. Afterwards, Tew and Wolcott were assigned to the Manned Orbiting Laboratory project at AFSC. The MOL was one of the Air Force’s premier projects; it was considered of such strategic importance that General Schriever himself was tapped to be director of the project, in addition to his regular duties as the commander of AFSC. Finally, they had hitched their wagon to a rising star, and returned to California from their exile in Ohio.

Even after Schriever retired, the MOL was still gathering momentum and was well on its way to becoming reality. Unlike the other pie-in-the-sky schemes that Tew and Wolcott had labored on, MOL hardware had actually left the ground; launched from Cape Canaveral, a Titan IIIC had carried a mock-up MOL into space in 1966. Thirteen military astronauts—ten Air Force pilots, two Navy aviators and one Marine aviator—were diligently training for MOL missions.

As much as Tew and Wolcott hated leaving the MOL project, Blue Gemini was a task tailor-made for the duo. The very notion of a Soviet Orbital Bombardment System had terrifying implications. Once it was even marginally operational, the Soviets could rain down bombs on the United States without warning. The whole idea scared the crap out of US strategic planners.

As luck would have it, even as Khrushchev uttered his tacit threat in 1961, the Air Force had already been developing a robotic satellite interceptor—SAINT—to counter Soviet reconnaissance and other potential threats from space. Unfortunately, the intercept mission was proving to be far too complex and unwieldy for an unmanned system. A technological nightmare, the incredibly complicated SAINT was like a Rube Goldberg contraption gone awry. By the time it was cancelled in late 1962, SAINT was well on its way to becoming a bigger flop than the Ford Edsel.

Even though SAINT fizzled out, everyone still recognized the need to shoot down hostile satellites. The Army devised an anti-satellite system on Kwajalein Atoll in the Pacific, called Project 505, based on their Nike-Zeus surface-to-air missile. In a competing effort, known as Project 437, the Air Force positioned Thor IRBMs on Johnston Island near Hawaii. Both systems would launch nuclear warheads on sub-orbital trajectories to destroy hostile satellites.

The Army’s Project 505 was eventually shelved in favor of Project 437. Project 437 was actually tested with live nuclear warheads launched in 1962 under a program called Starfish Prime. Despite a launch accident that contaminated a large portion of the remote island with radioactive debris, the lessons of Starfish Prime were myriad, but not entirely positive. When one of the tests inadvertently caused a massive electrical blackout in nearby Hawaii, it lent scientists their first glimpse into the crippling effects of the electromagnetic pulse—EMP—that accompanied nuclear explosions.

Another lesson was that while it was entirely feasible to use a nuclear warhead to destroy an enemy satellite, it was by no means a precision option. A nuclear detonation in space carried the risk of destroying everything in its vicinity, including friendly satellites. This was very significant, because outer space was increasingly becoming an extremely crowded place. Besides potentially hostile satellites, there were also legitimate research satellites, weather observation platforms, and communications relays. Additionally, there was an abundance of sheer junk—discarded boosters, miscellaneous debris, and dead satellites—whizzing around overhead. Looking up from earth, even with the most advanced optics and technology, it was virtually impossible to discern what was a valid threat and what was not. But despite its limitations, Project 437 was designated as an operational system, with a fixed launching pad and support facilities permanently stationed at Johnston Island.

In the years after Khrushchev’s ominous speech, a general consensus evolved that it was just another saber-rattling bluff, mostly because no one believed that the Soviets possessed the technology to follow through on an OBS. After all, just last year, they had signed the Outer Space Treaty, which unequivocally banned nuclear weapons in space. It made perfect sense for them to sign the Treaty if they didn’t have the technological horsepower to orbit weapons in the first place. Of course, thought Tew, the Soviets’ gesture was rather meaningless, since they hadn’t demonstrated any great propensity to abide by any other treaties that they’d signed.

In recent years, the game had shifted to peaceful competition in space. But although the Soviets fervently asserted that they had no desire to militarize space by stationing nuclear weapons in orbit, intelligence was slowly filtering out that indicated they still intended to do just that.

As Hugh Kittredge had indicated, recent evidence clearly showed that they had been pursuing an OBS the whole time, and up until very recently, they had successfully hidden their efforts from the intelligence services of the Free World. Why were they so intent on orbiting nuclear weapons? It appeared that the Soviet leadership was deathly afraid of the growing strategic arsenal possessed by the United States. They were particularly concerned about our sophisticated ICBM capabilities, especially the submarine-based missiles that they could not effectively monitor or counter. Desperate, the Soviets realized that a space-based system was the only way that they could ever hope to achieve strategic parity, especially if the United States abided by the treaties and they did not. And so, since desperate measures call for equally desperate countermeasures, Blue Gemini was born.

Blue Gemini was by no means a casual endeavor. To elude notice by even the most diligent of outside auditors, its massive budget was carefully dispersed across hundreds of “black” funding accounts. Tew’s expertise in managing exceedingly complex projects was indispensible to the effort, but although he was handpicked by Schriever, Tew was an odd candidate to lead such an expansive but clandestine space program. Unlike virtually all of his Air Force contemporaries, Tew would never willingly kneel at the altar of nuclear weapons.

Within AFSC, Tew was renowned for his vocal opposition to McNamara’s apocalyptic vision of Mutually Assured Destruction. As the leader of the nation’s ballistic missile program, Schriever was effectively the premier architect of Armageddon, so his choice of the misfit Tew was a mystery to the few AFSC insiders who even knew about Blue Gemini. But despite Schriever’s own affinity for nukes, he was still a practical man who recognized talent.

As a professional warrior, the very notion of wholesale atomic annihilation sickened Tew. To him, war was an endeavor only for armed combatants. Despite this, he was also a realist; he knew that the modern world had grown so complex that it was necessary to strike deep within an opponent’s territories to destroy their means and will to make war. His years of strategic bombing, of pulverizing factories and rail yards from the air, had hammered that lesson home.

He also understood that there was no practical means to escape collateral damage, but to him it was entirely unacceptable that cities—teeming with thousands, if not millions, of defenseless civilians—could be targeted for destruction. He could not imagine any legitimate justification for such inhuman actions as the Dresden fire bombings, where thousands of civilians had been burned alive. While he hadn’t flown in the Dresden raids, since he had been a POW at the time, he had participated in the Hamburg bombings in 1943. The firestorm sparked by the Hamburg raids rivaled Dresden, virtually leveling the city and killing an estimated 50,000 civilians in the process. To this day, he could not speak of it.

To a limited extent, Tew understood Truman’s decision to subject Japan to the Bomb. The campaign to capture the Japanese mainland would have cost over a million lives on both sides, so it was absolutely essential to break the national will of the Japanese people. But at what cost? Could it have been done in some other manner? Couldn’t a simple demonstration of the Bomb, detonated on an isolated and uninhabited island, have sufficed? And was it absolutely necessary to drop Fat Man on Nagasaki after Little Boy had been unleashed on Hiroshima?

Oddly, Tew had been rather ambivalent about the Bomb until he was stationed in Japan just before the onset of the Korean War. After all, it was extremely likely that he would have been dispatched to the Far East at the end of the War, to participate in the final push on Japan, so there was a strong possibility that the Bomb may have saved his life, just as it had theoretically saved millions of other lives.
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